THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2016-002302

NHC HealthCare/Mauldin, LLC,.....

Respondent
RECEIVED

v.

NOV 09 2017

Wade Thompson and Sheila Thompson,

SC Court of Appeals

Of whom Wade Thompson is theAppellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Susan Ingles SC Bar #4577
Consumer Law Unit Head
South Carolina Legal Services
701 South Main Street
Greenville, South Carolina 29601

Sharon Young Ward SC Bar #76167
16 Jamestown Rd.
Charleston, South Carolina 29407

Attorneys for Appellant

QUESTION PRESENTED

Did the trial court err in ruling, under the equitable doctrine of **quantum meruit**, that Appellant was unjustly enriched and, thereby, liable to Respondent “for the sum of \$8,869.32, the reasonable value of the services provided to him and remaining unpaid”?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 28, 2014, Plaintiff NHC Health Care/Mauldin, LLC (NHC)¹ filed a Summons and Complaint in Anderson County Circuit Court against Defendants Wade Thompson (**Father**) and Thompson's daughter, Sheila Thompson (**Daughter**). (R. 19-29). NHC asserted Father and Daughter owed an unpaid balance of \$8,869.32 for services Father received while an inpatient from January 26 to March 10, 2011.² (R. 23-24). Alternatively, NHC contended Father and Daughter had been "unjustly enriched at the expense of [NHC] and under these circumstances, it is unjust and inequitable to allow [Father and Daughter] to retain said benefits without paying [NHC] therefor." (R. 24). NHC asked the court to award "the unpaid balance of the reasonable value of the goods and services furnished . . . the cost of this action, and for such other and further relief as to the Court may

¹ NHC-Mauldin, LLC is a 180-bed, skilled nursing facility. Its corporate office is located in Murfreesboro, Tennessee. (R. 279-280).

² NHC's bill for services provided to Father, from January 26 to March 10, 2011, was \$18,071.82. (R. 116-120). Because no semi-private room was available at NHC, Daughter had agreed to pay a supplement of \$21 per day for a private room. Medicare Part B paid \$8,572.50 for physical therapy and occupational therapy services Father received at NHC. (R. 116-120). Medicare notified NHC on January 27, 2011 that Father had no remaining days of eligibility for inpatient services; thereafter, Medicare denied payment for the inpatient services Father received at NHC. (R. 254, 281, 310, 342).

seem just and proper.” (R. 24).

Two weeks later, NHC’s attorney, Craig Allen, and three NHC employees met at the Greenville law office of arbitrator James C. Sarratt for an arbitration previously scheduled by NHC. (R. 237-239). The arbitrator’s Decision stated: “Notice of the arbitration place and time, along with an agreement for binding arbitration, where [sic] mailed to both the claimant and to the respondents, [Father] and [Daughter].” (R. 237-239). Furthermore, the Decision acknowledged: “Despite notice, neither respondent was present.” (R. 237-239). The Decision explained NHC had “provided ample evidence that proves that it is due unpaid charges and expenses pursuant to the admission and financial agreement executed by [Daughter], responsible party for the [NHC] resident [Father].” (R. 237-239). The Decision concluded: “NHC Healthcare/Mauldin, LLC is due the amount of \$11,197.50 from [Father].” (R. 237-239). Moreover, because NHC had paid the arbitrator’s fee of \$350, the arbitrator added Father’s “share” of \$175, making \$11,372.50 the final award to NHC. (R. 427; R. 237-239).

On May 16, 2014, NHC filed a Motion asking Anderson County Circuit Court to conduct a hearing and, thereafter, to confirm the arbitration award, and to award “costs and fees incurred in this action, pursuant to the Contract

between the parties.” **(R. 84-87)**. Thereafter, Daughter obtained counsel and filed a Motion asking the court to: (1) dismiss NHC’s Complaint; (2) vacate NHC’s Arbitration Award; and (3) appoint a guardian ad litem [GAL] for Father, who then had diagnoses of dementia, Alzheimer’s, and renal failure, and was residing in the Richard Campbell Veterans’ Nursing Home.³ **(R. 391; R. 88-90)**.

Following a hearing, the trial court ordered mediation and vacated: (1) NHC’s Motion to Confirm Arbitration Award, (2) Daughter’s Motion to Dismiss, and (3) Daughter’s Motion to Vacate Award. **(R. 5-6)**. Several months later, Daughter’s Return stated: “Mediation was held but did not resolve the issues.” **(R. 91-94)**. Furthermore, Daughter’s Return asked the court to (1) dismiss NHC’s complaint and (2) vacate the Arbitration Award.⁴ **(R. 91-94)**.

³ Following a hearing, the court ordered appointment of a GAL for Father and continued action on Daughter’s remaining requests. **(R. 1-2)**. On March 9, 2015, the court appointed attorney Jay Duvall as Father’s GAL, stating: “It appears that the parties agree that [Father], a party in the above-captioned action, is in need of the services of a [GAL] in the above-titled action.” **(R. 3-4)**.

⁴ On June 10, 2014 and June 13, 2014, respectively, NHC served Daughter and Father with: (1) Notice of its February 28, 2014 Summons and Complaint, and (2) Notice of its May 16, 2014 Motion for Confirmation of Arbitration Award. **(R. 93)**.

On January 29, 2016, NHC filed an Amended Complaint, alleging additional actions against Daughter, including: (1) “false and fraudulent representations [that] were made willfully and deliberately . . . in order to induce [NHC] to admit [Father] into [NHC’s] facility,” and (2) negligent misrepresentation. **(R. 30-60)**. NHC asked the court to award punitive damages against Daughter for allegedly making “false misrepresentations.” **(R. 9; R. 37)**. Daughter answered NHC’s Amended Complaint and asserted counterclaims for negligence, fraud by misrepresentation, fraud by omission, negligent misrepresentation, promissory estoppel, abuse of process, due process, and protections granted under South Carolina’s Consumer Protection Code and Unfair Trade Practices Act. **(R. 64-83)**.

On September 7, 2016, Anderson County Circuit Court conducted a bench trial and, thereafter, ruled:

1. NHC is “not entitled to judgment against [Daughter]. [Daughter] signed the admission documents and admitted [Father] to [NHC’s] facility on his behalf. [Daughter] did not hold a Power of Attorney for [Father], nor had she been appointed by any Court as a conservator or guardian for him.” **(R. 15)**.
2. Daughter’s counterclaims are dismissed with prejudice. **(R. 16)**.

3. [Father] is liable to [NHC] for the sum of \$8,869.32, the reasonable value of the services provided to him and remaining unpaid, on the basis of *quantum meruit*.” (R. 14).

On November 18, 2016, Father filed and served his Notice of Appeal of the trial court’s October 14, 2016 Final Order. (R. 95). This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On January 22, 2011, Father, then age seventy-four, arrived by ambulance at AnMed Health’s Emergency Room.⁵ (R. 218-233). After physicians diagnosed Father as having bradycardia, he was admitted to the hospital and remained there until January 26, 2011. (Id.; R. 293-294). Father’s Initial Assessment indicated he required “total care”; Medicare and Mutual of Omaha were Father’s primary and secondary health insurance providers, respectively. (R. 218-233).

On January 26, 2011, AnMed’s discharge planner, Jenny Stansell, coordinated plans for Father’s transfer by ambulance to NHC. ((R. 218-233); R. 396-397). Stansell’s notes confirmed the planned transfer to NHC:

⁵ AnMed Health is located in Anderson, South Carolina. (R. 218-233).

“Jennifer [Balon] from NHC-M offered pt. bed for today if family is willing to pay \$21/day because it is a private room Called Daughter, and she accepted bed with \$21/day copay. She will go now to do admissions paperwork at NHC. Let Jennifer know, and she agreed for us to send pt. at 2 p.m.” (R. 270-271; R. 218-233). Daughter testified that Father had been admitted to both AnMed and NHC in the past and, on those occasions, Father’s Medicare and supplemental insurance had “paid for everything.” (R. 246, 272, 303, 401, 408, 425).

After Daughter accepted a charge of \$21 per day for Father’s private room at NHC, she met with NHC Admissions Director Jennifer Zaire Balon. (R. 244, 259, 398). Daughter testified: “I knew to ask for Jennifer Zaire because the [AnMed] social worker had told me to, that she would be waiting for me and she would have everything ready, and she did. She had everything ready. All the papers were filled out” (R. 398, 422; R. 234-236). Daughter stated that during their 30-minute pre-admission meeting, Balon asked her no questions, did not discuss the admissions paperwork with her, and “would just point to where for me to sign.” (R. 398-400, 422; R. 97-113). According to Daughter, rather than discussing Father’s admission documents, she and Balon talked about Balon’s upcoming wedding. (R. 399, 441).

Daughter said the only discussion of financial arrangements was the requirement that she write a \$630 check to NHC for “a 30 days’ payment of the difference between the semiprivate room and the private room. They wanted that up front.” (R. 399). After signing the admission documents and writing the check for \$630, Daughter joined Father, who had already arrived by ambulance, in his room. (R. 423).

At trial, Balon testified she had been admissions director at NHC for twelve years. (R. 244). She stated her job involved “working with families and hospitals getting patients into our building.” (R. 244). On January 26, 2011, the day of Father’s transfer to NHC, Balon called the automated Medicare Verification number to confirm NHC would be paid by Medicare for inpatient services NHC provided to Father. (R. 248, 252, 303; R. 114). According to Balon, the automated system indicated, “[Father] had his full 100 days.” (R. 248, 252, 261). Balon testified that she did not recall asking AnMed about any of Father’s prior hospital admissions, stating: “I don’t recollect that conversation like that. I can’t specifically remember.”⁶ (R. 294).

⁶ However, the January 22, 2011 AnMed Physician Documentation Sheet, which was provided to NHC, stated: “The Recent History is a recent hospitalization.” (R. 97-113).

When Balon was asked whether she had informed Daughter that Father's NHC charges would be covered by Medicare, Balon responded, "Based on the information that we had, yes." (R. 264). NHC's ten-page Admission and Financial Agreement listed the NHC services that were covered by Medicare; on page five of the Agreement, Balon had indicated in writing: (1) Father would be placed in "a Medicare certified bed," and (2) "it is the professional judgment of this Center that Patient's care will be covered by Medicare." (R. 263-264, 431-432, 481; R. 102-104).

Balon testified it was NHC's policy "to email our corporate office, and then they would run the Medicare verification check as well and then it was emailed back." (R. 253, 262). Balon acknowledged receiving the Medicare Verification Reply on January 27, 2011—the day following Father's admission to NHC.⁷ (R. 254, 281). Balon conceded: "This one reflected that he had no days left" (R. 254, 115). Specifically, the January 27, 2011 Medicare Verification Reply provided NHC with the following facts:

- **Type of Verification: Inpatient**
- **Reply:**

⁷ Balon testified that although she printed the Medicare Verification Reply on January 27, 2011, handwritten notes were added later by NHC business office manager, Lisa Bollinger. (R. 281).

- Part A Begin Date 9/01/1999
- Part B Begin Date 9/01/1999
- Full Days Remaining in Benefit Period: 0
- Coinsurance Days Remaining: 0
- Last Date Billed in Benefit Period: 11/22/2010
- PT/ST Available Under Cap for Year: 1,870.00
- OT Available Under Cap for Year: 1,870.00

(R. 115).

After reviewing Medicare's Verification Reply, Balon concluded Medicare had provided inaccurate information to NHC. Specifically, Balon determined that Medicare's statements, "**Full Days Remaining in Benefit Period: 0**" and "**Last Date Billed in Benefit Period: 11/22/2010,**" were mutually exclusive and could not both be accurate. Thereafter, Balon unilaterally surmised Medicare had erred in informing NHC that Father had "no days left." (R. 254-256). Balon testified repeatedly that the Medicare Verification Reply "did not raise any red flags" to her because she had received inconsistent information from Medicare "four or five times" in the past. (R. 257; 262-263; 291-292, 298-299). However, Balon also testified that this was an "extremely" unusual situation for her. (R. 287, 299). After Medicare refused to pay NHC for Father's inpatient stay, Balon learned that

all of the facts contained in Medicare's January 27, 2011 Verification Reply were correct. **(R. 201)**

Asked if she "did anything at all" to reconcile the inconsistency between the automated Medicare response received on January 26, 2011 and the written Medicare Verification Reply received on January 27, 2011, Balon responded: "No, ma'am." **(R. 263, 267, 291-295)**. Balon explained she took no steps to resolve the discrepancy in Medicare's responses because, "I didn't feel the need to, no, sir. I felt like I had done that." **(R. 298-299)**.

Q. As far as you were concerned, as the admissions director, [Father] was eligible for Medicare insurance benefits?

[Balon] Right.

Q. Even though it turns out that he wasn't, correct?

[Balon] Correct.

(R. 300).

Balon stated that "much later down the road" she learned Medicare was not responsible for paying NHC for Father's services because his Medicare Part A benefits had been exhausted prior to his January 26, 2011 admission. **(R. 264-265)**. Balon admitted that, although Father stayed at NHC until March

10, 2011, no one from NHC discussed any financial concerns with Father or Daughter because “[w]e thought it was covered. That whole time we thought it was covered.”⁸ (R. 266-267).

Balon said her responsibilities at NHC ended “once we get them admitted, just get all admission paperwork done, I finish the chart, get everything in the computer, and I hand it off.” (R. 282). Balon stated that she did not remember whether she had met Father; and after his admission on January 26, 2011, Balon had no further communication with Daughter. (R. 290-291). Daughter also confirmed having had no further conversation with Balon after Father’s admission on January 26, 2011. (R. 431).

At trial, Lisa Bollinger, NHC’s business office manager, testified she “handle[s] financial aspects of residents in the facility, the billing.” (R. 302). Bollinger acknowledged Father incurred charges of \$18,071.82 during his stay at NHC, which included charges for room and board, physical therapy, and speech therapy. (R. 305; 116-120).

Bollinger received Father’s admission file “one to two days after”

⁸ Balon testified that Mutual of Omaha, Father’s secondary insurance provider, was responsible for payment only after Medicare had first paid NHC. (R. 267).

Balon completed it, and she remembered reading the January 27, 2011 Medicare Verification Reply that informed NHC that Father had no remaining inpatient days. (R. 370-372).

Approximately six weeks later, Bollinger first became aware of a potential problem with Medicare payment for Father's services. (R. 375). Bollinger testified: "On March 7, [2011,] I was notified by home office, Jeanie Newman,⁹ who is our Medicare specialist, via email. She informed me that [Father's] January claim was not going to be paid, that Medicare was not paying it." (R. 310, 342). Newman's email stated Medicare Part A had denied payment for benefits provided to Father during January 2011.¹⁰ Newman's email added: "Lisa, [Father's] claim for JAN is processing as BEN EXH,¹¹ he has not had a 60 day break since he left you in July 2010 according to

⁹ Bollinger testified, "The Medicare specialist bills Medicare from the home office. They submitted the claim." (R. 349). Bollinger added that Newman was "no longer with the company. She's retired." (R. 349).

¹⁰ Medicare Part A provides inpatient hospital and skilled nursing facility stays for beneficiaries with remaining **Benefit Days** in the applicable **Benefit Period**. Although Medicare A denied payment for inpatient services, Medicare Part B paid NHC \$4,215 for occupational therapy services and \$4,447.50 for physical therapy services Father received at NHC. (R. 116-120).

¹¹ Benefits Exhausted.

Medicare.” (R. 198). Later that day, Newman notified Bollinger that she had “pulled the verification from Home Office dates 1-27-11; it states last billed on file with Medicare was 11-22-10 / NO PART A benefits.” (R. 197).

Bollinger testified that, after receiving Newman’s email, she requested a “60-day [Medicare] verification. I was trying to figure out myself what was going on.” (R. 311-312, 379-380; R. 202). The “60 Day Part A Reverify” Bollinger received on March 7, 2011 stated Father had zero “full days remaining in the [applicable Medicare Part A] Benefit Period. (R. 376-377; R. 202).

On March 8, 2011, Bollinger attempted to reconcile the automated response NHC received on January 26, 2011 with the emailed Medicare Verification Reply NHC received on January 27, 2011. Bollinger contacted AnMed and Daughter to determine the dates of Father’s prior hospitalizations. AnMed told Bollinger that Father also had been hospitalized there from January 7-12, 2011. (R. 375-376).

Bollinger asked Daughter to call Medicare and find out where Father had been hospitalized. (R. 313, 350, 407-407; R. 197). However, while talking with Daughter, Bollinger did not explain the source of her concern;

i.e., Medicare had notified NHC on January 27, 2011, and again on March 7, 2011, that Father had no remaining Part A Benefit Days. (R. 458-459). Daughter testified: “When [Bollinger] called me, she did not mention . . . one thing about there was no coverage. The only thing she said was, ‘We’re trying to figure out where [Father] was.’ I don’t know the Medicare rules. I don’t know why she was trying to ask me that.” (R. 459).

On March 9, 2011, Bollinger informed Newman that Daughter had called Medicare, and Medicare would not provide information to her by phone.¹² (R. 438-439, 458-459; R. 196). Later that day, Bollinger told Newman, “he is leaving tomorrow.” (R. 196). Daughter took Father home from NHC on March 10, 2011.¹³ (R. 281). Several months later, Father was admitted to the Richard Campbell Veterans Nursing Home, where he continued to reside at the time of trial. (R. 423-424).

¹² Bollinger later acknowledged that Medicare could not talk to Daughter and would provide information only to Medicare providers. (R. 342, 407-408). According to Bollinger: “I actually gave [Daughter] information where I had called Medicare, and Medicare talked to me as a provider and informed me that [Father] was at Carolina Behavioral Health” (R. 320).

¹³ Father was readmitted to the hospital a few days later. (R. 424).

On March 21, 2011, NHC acknowledged that the Medicare Verification Reply it had received one day after Father's admission to NHC was accurate—Father had been admitted to NHC on January 26, 2011 with zero benefit days remaining under Medicare Part A for inpatient services.¹⁴ (R. 201).

At trial, conflicting testimony was given regarding the circumstances under which Father left NHC on March 10, 2011. According to Bollinger, “[t]he family chose to take him home.” (R. 308, 318-319, 377). Bollinger testified that she first talked with Daughter on March 8, 2011 about discharging Father, and she had informed Daughter that NHC would have to bill Father “privately.” (R. 321, 349, 351-352, 354). According to Bollinger, Daughter had responded, “there was no money.”¹⁵ (R. 321). When asked if her conversation with Daughter “had anything to do with the discharge itself,” Bollinger replied: “No. I don’t normally handle discharges.” (R. 351).

¹⁴ On March 21, 2011, Medicare notified NHC that Father had received inpatient services at Carolina Behavioral Health in Greer, South Carolina from October 4-November 22, (R. 320, 426; R. 201). Also, AnMed confirmed that Father was hospitalized there from January 7-12, 2011. (R. 375).

¹⁵ NHC counsel later asked Daughter: “Now when Lisa [Bollinger] called you about Carolina Behavioral and you confirmed that information on March 21 [2011], isn’t that when she told you, ‘We’re going to have to bill [Father] for this care?’” (R. 460).

According to Daughter's testimony, two days before Father's release from NHC, Bollinger called to ask "if there were other places—other hospitals that my father had been in. Well, all of my dad's doctors are in Anderson, and Anderson has only the one hospital. And I told her he had been in AnMed. But she didn't tell me why she was asking that. And I did not question her." (R. 402-403). Daughter testified that soon thereafter she received another call from an NHC employee, who told her: "You need to come and get your dad. He has met his potential." Daughter had responded:

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