THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2014-CP-04-00373

Appellate Case No.: 2016-002302

NHC HealthCare Mauldin,
LLC,

Respondent,

v.

Wade Thompson and Sheila
Thompson,

Defendants.

Of Whom Wade Thompson is
the

Appellant.

RECEIVED

SEP 01 2017

SC Court of Appeals

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Erick M. Barbare SC Bar # 72851
120 Halton Road, Suite 3
Greenville, SC 29607
864-232-2700
Fax 864-370-3421
Erick@barbarelawfirm.com

Craig H. Allen, SC Bar # 329
PO Box 10854
Greenville, SC 29603
craig@craigallenlaw.com
(864) 239-0444

Fax (864) 239-0098

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

ARGUMENTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THE APPELLANT LIABLE TO THE RESPONDENT UNDER THE DOCTRINE OF *QUANTUM MERUIT*.

The sole question presented in this appeal is whether the trial court erred in awarding judgment against the Appellant on the basis of the equitable doctrine of *quantum meruit*.

Our Courts have recognized “quantum meruit as an equitable doctrine to allow recovery for unjust enrichment. See Player v. Chandler, 299 S.C. 101, 382 S.E.2d 891 (1989). Absent an express contract, recovery under quantum meruit is based on quasi-contract, the elements of which are: (1) a benefit conferred upon the defendant by the plaintiff; (2) realization of that benefit by the defendant; and (3) retention by the defendant of the benefit under conditions that make it unjust for him to retain it without paying its value. Webb v. First Federal Savings and Loan Ass'n., 300 S.C. 507, 388 S.E.2d 823 (Ct. App. 1989); Ellis v. Smith Grading and Paving, Inc., 294 S.C. 470, 366 S.E.2d 12 (Ct. App. 1988).” Columbia Wholesale Co. v. Scudder May N.V., 312 S.C. 259, 261, 440 S.E.2d 129, 130 (1994). See also Gignilliat v. Gignilliat, Savitz & Bettis, L.L.P., 385 S.C. 452, 684 S.E.2d 756 (2009), Rose Electric, Inc. v. Cooler Erectors of Atlanta, Inc., 418 S.C. 424, 794 S.E.2d 382 (Ct. App. 2016), LandBank Fund VII, LLC v. Dickerson, 369 S.C. 621, 632 S.E.2d 882 (Ct. App. 2006).

Restitution is awarded on the theory that the plaintiff conferred a benefit at the request of

the defendant in the mutual expectation that it was to be paid for. If the defendant receives the benefit of the services without paying for it, he will be unjustly enriched. Johnston v. Brown, 290 S.C. 141, 348 S.E.2d 391 (Ct.App. 1986).

A. THERE WAS A BENEFIT CONFERRED UPON THE DEFENDANT BY THE PLAINTIFF

In the instant case, NHC conferred benefits upon Father including skilled nursing care and therapy. (Tr. p. 65 l. 6, 18-19; Pl. Exhibit 5 pp. 165-168; 390-443; 446-448; 494; 597). Bollinger testified that Father “had therapy. He had 24-hour nursing care around the clock with CNA, which is a certified nursing assistant, as well as a nurse on duty. Of course, there was (sic) doctors that would be in the facility as well, physical/ occupational therapy both.” (Tr. pp. 65 lines 22-25; p. 66 line 1; Pl. Exhibit 5 pp. 165-168; 390-443; 446-448; 494; 597). These services were provided to Father over a period of forty-five days, from January 26, 2011 to March 10, 2011. (Tr. p. 65, lines 2-3). Father accepted these services and he does not contend that these services were gratuitous.

The value of the services that remained unpaid at the time of trial was \$8,869.32. (Tr. p. 87 lines 23-25) (Tr. p. 88 line 1); (Plaintiff’s Exhibit 14).

Appellant contends that “[i]t is not enough for NHC to show Father benefitted from the residential care. NHC must show *it* conferred the benefit.” (Brief of Appellant, p.30).

Without question, NHC conferred and Father received the benefits of skilled nursing and therapy as set forth above. There is no mention in the record that a third party has conferred the care received by Father. The parties in the case at bar had direct dealings with each other.

Appellant cites three authorities for the proposition that “NHC was required to prove a

benefit other than what was already expected as a result of the relationship of the parties that existed upon his admission to NHCC (sic).” (Appellant’s Initial Brief, p. 30). *Sauner, Niggell, and Inglese*. However, each of these cases is distinguishable from the facts of the case at bar.

The *Sauner* Court’s analysis focused on the fact that the parties had a valid lease that contemplated the very situation the plaintiff alleged to be the basis for unjust enrichment:

Restitution is a remedy designed to prevent unjust enrichment. *Stanley Smith & Sons v. Limestone College*, 283 S.C. 430, 434, 322 S.E.2d 474, 478 (Ct. App. 1984). To recover on a theory of restitution, the plaintiff must show (1) that he conferred a non-gratuitous benefit on the defendant; (2) that the defendant realized some value from the benefit; and (3) that it would be inequitable for the defendant to retain the benefit without paying the plaintiff for its value. *Niggel Assoc., Inc. v. Polo's of North Myrtle Beach, Inc.*, 296 S.C. 530, 374 S.E.2d 507 (Ct. App. 1988). In *Player v. Chandler*, 299 S.C. 101, 382 S.E.2d 891 (1989), this Court [***19] found that the record failed to establish a cause of action for unjust enrichment. In *Player*, the plaintiffs leased property from the defendant, and built a restaurant on the property. *Id.* The lease contemplated improvements to the premises and established that plaintiffs could enjoy the use of the improvements during the term of the lease. *Id.* The dispute between the parties arose after plaintiffs offered to purchase the property, and defendant declined to sell, but said that he might be willing to extend the lease term. *Id.* The day after this conversation, plaintiffs began construction of a second restaurant on the property. Three weeks later, defendant told plaintiffs he would not extend the term of the lease unless additional terms and conditions were met. *Id.* The plaintiffs claimed that defendant was unjustly enriched by refusing to extend the lease. This Court disagreed, and found the plaintiffs would be able to enjoy their improvements for the term of the existing lease and that any retention of benefit by the defendant was a result of the initial terms of the lease. *Id.*

In our opinion, the facts here are similar to those in *Player*. Appellants' [***20] lease agreements provided that all improvements to the leased property would become the property of Santee Cooper upon termination of the lease (other than upon termination by Santee Cooper). The leases in this case were for very long terms, and Appellants were able to enjoy the [*410] improvements they made for many years. Therefore, we find no genuine issue of material fact to support Appellants' claim for unjust enrichment. *Sauner v. Public Serv. Auth.*, 354 S.C. 397, 409-410, 581 S.E.2d 161, 167-168, (2003)

Here, there is no agreement between NHC and Father that, if there were no Medicare benefits available to Father to pay for his stay, Father would not be liable to pay NHC for the

services it provided. Rather, the converse is true: the admissions documents signed by Daughter state that Father would be liable for the services rendered if Medicare would not pay for them.

(Tr. p. 61, lines 18-25; Tr. p. 209 lines 18-25; Plaintiff's Exhibit 1 at Page 77)

The *Niggel* case is likewise distinguishable from the case at bar. *Niggel* involved a claim by a contractor against the owner of real property. The contractor made improvements to real property owned by a third party at the behest of a sublessee and had no contract to perform services directly with the owner of the real property. The *Niggel* Court held that

In this case, the Contractors did the work under contracts with Beach (the sublessee). They expected to be paid by Beach. They had no dealings whatever with Windy Hill. Indeed, they did not know Windy Hill had an interest in the property when they agreed to perform the work. Windy Hill did not request the work. It did nothing to cause the [***5] Contractors to rely on it for payment. It had no reason to suppose the Contractors looked to it for payment. The Contractors were not induced to furnish their labor and materials by any expectation that Windy Hill would pay for them. In these circumstances, Windy Hill had no duty to make restitution to the Contractors. Any benefit it received was an incidental result of dealings between others in which it did not participate and over which it assumed no control.

Additionally, the Contractors failed to prove the value of any benefit Windy Hill may have received from their work. *Niggel Associates, Inc. v. Polo's of North Myrtle Beach, Inc.*, 296 S.C. 530, 533, 374 S.E.2d 507, 509, (Ct.App. 1988)

The facts in this appeal are distinguishable from the *Niggel* case because Father and Daughter dealt directly with NHC and received services directly from NHC. By Daughter signing the admissions documents, Daughter caused NHC to rely on Father for payment at the time of admission and NHC expected Father to pay NHC for those services if Medicare did not. Indeed, Father paid NHC for his co-pay at the time of admission, and cannot now argue that he had no direct dealings with NHC or that they were not looking to him for payment.

Furthermore, the *Niggel* case is distinguishable because the plaintiff in that case failed to

prove any benefit the defendant received from the plaintiff's work. In this case, NHC has offered sufficient evidence of the value of the services it rendered to Father.

Inglese v. Beal, 742 S.E. 2d; 403 S.C. 290 (Ct. App. 2013) is likewise distinguishable from the facts in this appeal. In Inglese, a lawyer, was retained to close a real estate transaction. Inglese failed to obtain a written release of a judgment lien of which he had actual knowledge, and as a result, a title insurance company was forced to pay the judgment creditor \$10,000. The title insurance company sought reimbursement from Inglese, which he paid. Inglese then sued the seller for unjust enrichment and equitable indemnity. Inglese v. Beal, 403 S.C. 290, 742 S.E.2d 687 (Ct. App. 2013).

The Inglese Court focused its inquiry on the fact the title insurance company, and not the plaintiff, conferred the benefit upon the defendant. *Id.* While the plaintiff reimbursed the title insurance company for the claim it paid, there was no direct benefit conferred upon the defendant by the plaintiff and the plaintiff reimbursed the title company out his own self interest to settle a lawsuit. *Id.*

In the case at bar, NHC did directly confer a benefit upon Father: skilled nursing services and therapy. There was no intervening third party who conferred the benefit, as in Inglese.

B. THE APPELLANT REALIZED THE BENEFIT CONFERRED UPON HIM BY THE RESPONDENT

Appellant does not contend that he did not realize the benefits and the services conferred upon him by the Respondent. Appellant received around the clock nursing care and therapy from Respondent benefitted from these services. (Tr. pp. 65 lines 22-25; p. 66 line 1; Pl. Exhibit 5 pp. 165-168; 390-443; 446-448; 494; 597). There is no evidence in the record that Appellant

rejected these services or was dissatisfied with these services. To the contrary, Daughter implies that she was satisfied with the services NHC rendered to her Father, testifying at trial that “I’m not saying anything bad about National Health Care, the care he got or – you know.” (Tr. p. 225, line 15-16) Accordingly, the second prong of the *Scudder May* test is satisfied by the facts in the record.

C. THE CIRCUMSTANCES PRESENTED IN THIS APPEAL ARE SUCH THAT IT WOULD BE UNJUST FOR THE APPELLANT TO RETAIN THE BENEFITS WITHOUT PAYING THEIR VALUE TO RESPONDENT

The primary focus of this appeal is whether the third prong of the *Scudder May* test is satisfied. That is, whether retention by Father of the benefits and services provided by NHC without paying NHC the value of these services and benefits would be unjust under the circumstances and facts in this case. The dispositive facts that lead to this conclusion are as follows:

- (1) At the time of Father’s admission, NHC received telephonic verification that Father had eligible Medicare benefits for his stay at NHC’s facility (Tr. p. 13, lines 20-22);
- (2) The day after Father’s admission, NHC received inconsistent information by e-mail that stated that Father had no benefit days available to him but that his last bill date was more than 60 days prior to the date of his admission to NHC (Tr. p. 15, lines 21-25);
- (3) Father and Daughter failed to disclose to NHC that Father had stayed at Carolina Behavior Health, Riverside, and AnMed Hospital immediately prior to his admission

at NHC until after Father had been discharged from NHC despite having knowledge of those facts (Tr. p. 12 lines 10-18) (Tr. p. 74 lines 4-24; Tr. p. 77, lines 10-12) (Tr. p. 79 lines 5-15) (Tr. p. 81 lines 6-25; Tr. p. 82 lines 1-3);

- (4) Father and Daughter had received Medicare summary notices previously which explained the Medicare benefit eligibility) (Tr. p. 218 lines 2-7) (Plaintiff's Exhibit 22);
- (5) NHC made no guarantee to Father or Daughter that Medicare would cover Father's stay at NHC (Tr. p. 61, line 18-25; Plaintiff's Exhibit 1 at Page 77);
- (6) To the contrary, the written agreement signed by Daughter at the time of admission contemplated that Medicare may not cover NHC's services to Father, and in that event, Father would be liable to pay to NHC the cost of its services to Father; (Tr. p. 61, lines 18-25; Tr. p. 209 lines 18-25; Plaintiff's Exhibit 1 at Page 77);
- (7) There is no evidence in the record that either Father or Daughter informed NHC that they had no intention of paying for NHC's services if there was no Medicare coverage available;
- (8) Daughter routinely conducted Father's business and medical affairs; (Tr. p. 229 lines 10-25; p. 230 lines 1-5)
- (9) NHC did not conclusively learn of Father's lack of benefits until March 7, 2011 (Tr. p. 71, line 19; Plaintiff's Exhibit 9);
- (10) Father was removed from NHC at the request of Daughter on March 10, 2011 (Tr. p. 79, lines 22-24);
- (11) There is evidence in the record that Father was competent during his stay at NHC

(Tr. p. 90 lines 2-25; Tr. p. 91 lines 1-18; Plaintiff's Exhibit 5 at pp. 446, 597);

(12) There is no evidence in the record that Father was incompetent at the time of admission or at any time during his stay;

(13) There is no evidence in the record that Father rejected the services provided by NHC or was dissatisfied with those services;

(14) Father received services from NHC and benefitted from those services (Tr. p. 65 l. 6,18-19; Pl. Exhibit 5 pp. 165-168; 390-443; 446-448; 494; 597).

The equities in this case favor NHC rather than Father. Father and Daughter knew the very information necessary to determine whether or not Father would have been eligible to receive Medicare benefits: what skilled nursing facilities and hospitals Father had stayed in since his last stay in July, 2010 at NHC. Daughter failed to disclose this information to NHC at the time of admission, and it was only through Bollinger's diligence and thorough investigation that this information was ultimately discovered.

Father's brief relies heavily on the argument that "NHC bears responsibility for the charges not paid by Medicare because it provided care, despite the fact that it knew or should have known, that Medicare would not pay for NHS's services." (Appellant's Initial Brief, pp. 32-33). However, this argument makes assumptions that are inconsistent with the record.

First, the information received by NHC was inconsistent. The telephone verification conducted by Balon indicated that Father had his full one hundred benefit days available to him. (Tr. p.13, l. 20-22; Plaintiff's Exhibit 2). The second verification, conducted by e-mail, gave inconsistent information. Balon testified that the e-mail verification "reflected that he had no days left, but it did say that the last bill date was November 22nd, which at that time I would have

looked at, and based upon what I was looking at, he still had a 60-day break.” (Tr. p. 15, lines 21-25.)

The 60-day break is significant, because it affects whether or not a patient is eligible to receive benefits from Medicare at a skilled nursing facility. Ms. Balon explains the Medicare benefits eligibility:

Q: Okay. Now, just for -- because this took me a while to figure out, just for our benefit, can you explain the benefit days and how that applies?

A: A patient has to have a three-night inpatient hospital stay. If they have done that, then they do qualify to receive services in a skilled nursing facility for rehab as long as they meet the Medicare criteria from a medical standpoint. And then the Medicare benefits are the first -- a benefit period of a possible 100 days. The first 20 days Medicare paying 100 percent. Days 21 through 100 there being a copay that is dictated by Medicare.

Q: Okay. So I think what you're saying is they have a total of 100 benefit days?

A: Yes. They have a total of 100 benefit days, yes.

Q: They only get 100 days per year?

A: No, sir. Per benefit period.

Q: How do they qualify for a new benefit period?

A: From the date you leave a skilled nursing facility until the day you either go back into a skilled nursing facility or back into a hospital as an inpatient, **there has to be a 60-day consecutive break. It has to be consecutive, and you have to have 60 midnights out of a skilled nursing facility and a hospital. On day 61, it would start over.** (Tr. p. 11, lines 10-25; p. 12, lines 1-9) (emphasis added).

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